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  The Directors submit to the members their report and accounts of the Group for 
the year ended 31 December 2014. Pages 1 to 20, including the Chairman's 
statement, Corporate governance statement and Directors’ remuneration report, 
form part of the Directors’ report. 
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Highlights 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Gross revenues down 15% to £14.4m (2013: £16.9m) 
 Gross profit down 72% to £1.6m (2013: £5.8m) 
 Pre-tax loss  £4.0m (2013: profit of £0.7m) 
 Strategic review by new management team resulted in substantial non-cash charges: 

o Deferral of £1m of revenue related to an onerous contract. 
o Accrual of £1m of additional costs related to the same onerous



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Publishing Technology provides a range of applications designed to move content forward in the digital 
era, combining the best solutions for both print and digital products. Our revolutionary advance system 
supports royalties, permissions, editorial, production, online sales and marketing, as well as digital and 
print distribution.  
 
Applying decades of industry expertise with new technology, advance is a suite of products that provides 
a comprehensive strategic solution to the issues faced by publishers in a digital environment providing a 
flexible, modular solution that is product-agnostic, cost-effective and can be implemented on a global 
scale. With advance, publishers can integrate entire processes, maximize all revenue streams, and 
transform from print to digital business models. 
 
Our Vista solutions have been powering the fulfilment requirements of many large and smaller 
publishers for almost four decades. A solution known for its ability to match the requirements of the book 
trade as well as subscription publishers in North America, Europe and Australas





 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Our internationally recognized sales and marketing consulting arm, PCG (Publishers Communication 
Group), provides a range of services designed to support and dr
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Chairman’s statement 
 
 

2014 developments 
2014 was a year of considerable change in our business. 

In April, Michael Cairns stepped up to the position of CEO and immediately set out to conduct a root 
and branch review of the entire business. His findings were clear: we have excellent products and 
exceptional potential, but we had an inefficient structure and lacked leadership in several key areas 
to scale the business and get the best possible return on our substantial investments. 

Since then, we have appointed a Chief Technology Officer, a Global Projects Director and 





 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Melissanne Scheld, 
Managing PCG Director 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Randy Petway, EVP Global 
Product Strategy 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Jay Teitelbaum, EVP Global 
Client Services 

 

 

 

Business structure 
Previously, the Group was divided into five divisions built around products and services; advance, 
Vista, pub2web, ingentaconnect and PCG. Whilst each has its unique aspects, most of our product 
divisions have similar skill-set requirements.  We determined that the current organisational structure 
was inefficient and did not allow us to share best practice or manage client relationships across the 
business. As a result, I have restructured the business around our global skill-sets rather than in 
individual product silos. 

Product Strategy 
Randy Petway has moved into the position of EVP Global Product Strategy, leading our product 
direction and vision across advance, pub2web and ingentaconnect. Randy is building the five and 
ten year plans for our product set, working closely with customers and our internal knowledge base 
to do so.  

Product development 



 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Strategy 
In the last few years, we have not delivered the required returns on our investments in advance and pub2web and 
this is where the greatest effort will be made to change our approach. We will invest where necessary but play to 
our strengths in the development of industry leading software solutions, teaming with partners and creating a 
community around platform solutions.  

Our approach can be broken down into actions on a product critical path:  envisage, create, sell, implement, 
manage and scale. The structure of the business and the management team mirrors these steps to success. 

Our corporate strategy is to achieve consistently high levels of organic growth and profitability by maintaining Vista 
margins; developing PCG’s content sales and consulting business





 

 

 

 

Operating results 
Gross revenue was 15% lower than the prior year at £14.4m (2013: £16.9m) and cost of sales were 13% 
higher than the prior year at £12.1m (2013: £10.7m) reducing gross margin to £1.6m (2013: £5.8m) for the 
year to 31 December 2014. This was mostly the result of lower revenue and higher costs in the advance 
division.  Revenue for ingentaconnect reduced as expected, as two of its larger publishers moved to new 
platforms, including one which moved to our pub2web solution. PCG revenue was 15% down on the prior 
year as change of management impacted the first half.  

Vista revenues were lower in the year as expected with lower licence revenue being recognised but Vista 
recurring revenue increased and various cost saving initiatives maintained net contribution values at the 
same level as 2013. 

Revenue from pub2web increased year on year by 18%, as large implementations moved to recurring 
revenue hosting deals. 

Vista once again delivered a solid, highly-profitable performance which, as in previous years, has allowed 
continued investment elsewhere in the business. The Group has invested around £20m over the last ten 
years to create advance and pub2web, funded mostly from the profitability and cash generation of the 
Group’s legacy products. The Board anticipates that this source of profit and cash will continue for many 
more years to come. 

In the year to 31 December 2014, pub2web still required investment but it was the substantial investment in 
the advance division that impacted profitability the most as we recognised less revenue and accrued for 
additional costs on one large loss-making contract in particular. 

The Board believes the historic issues with advance will not reoccur because we have made fundamental 
changes to the structure of the business. We have filled skills gaps through recruitment and strengthened 
processes and procedures to ensure all deals are reviewed and analysed prior to engagement.  

Cost of sales increased, mainly as a result of additional staff hires, including contractors onshore and 
offshore, to deliver the increased functionality we wanted to build into the advance product. 

Sales and marketing expenses remained flat year on year but administrative expenses increased by 8% to 
£3.6m (2013: £3.4m) due partly to adverse Įᴀᵀאeansges tokeᴀe l.  ̾ e!r  !  ӏя









 

Directors’ report 
For the year ended 31 December 2014 
 
 
 
The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2014. 

Principal activities 
The Group’s principal activities are the provision of content systems, audience development and content delivery software and services, 
including the internet-based electronic delivery of published research materials, and the provision of internet-based search and access 
services for libraries and consumers. 

Going concern 
The Directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis. In assessing whether this assumption is appropriate, 
management have taken into account all relevant available information about the future including profit and cash forecasts, the support 
of the shareholders and Directors, banking facilities and management’s ability to affect costs and revenues. 

Management regularly forecast profit, financial position and cash flows for the Group. A rolling forecast is updated monthly; with a short 
term ten week cash forecast updated daily. Revenue is forecast in detail with all revenue contracts individually listed and ranked by 
probability from firm to prospect. Management have reviewed forecast costs for reasonableness against prior years in light of known 
changes and have concluded that forecast costs are robust. 

Further details on going concern are included within note 1 to the accounts (principal accounting policies). 

Directors 
The Directors of the Company who held office during the year were: 
 
Executive Directors:  M P Cairns, Chief Executive Officer (appointed 1 April 2014) 

A B Moug, Chief Financial Officer 
G M Lossius (resigned 31 March 2014) 
 

Non-Executive Directors:  M C Rose, Chairman 
M A Rowse 
 

The interests of Dh nst p ̾nᴰaip ̾



 

Charitable and political contributions 
The Group made no political contributions (2013: £nil) and made £282 of charitable contributions (2013: £1,000) during the year. 
 

Creditor payment policy 
The Group’s payment policy is to negotiate with its suppliers at the time they are engaged and to abide by the terms agreed. During the 
year ended 31 December 2014 the Group, on average, paid its trade payables within 52 days of receipt of a valid invoice (2013: 49 
days, 2012: 48 days).  

Due to the company being a holding company and having limited trade, details have been provided for the Group which the Directors 
consider to be a fair reflection of business activities. 

 

Financial risk management 
Details of the Group’s financial risks are given in note 26. 
 

Employment policy 
Group employees are regularly consulted by Management and kept informed of matters affecting them and the overall development of 
the Group. The Group’s policy is to give disabled people full and fair consideration for job vacancies, having due regard for their abilities 
and the safety of the individual. In the event of members of staff becoming disabled every effort is made to ensure that their employment 
with the Group continues and appropriate training is arranged. 
 

Directors' and officers' liability insurance 
The Group, as permitted by sections 234 and 235 of the Companies Act 2006, maintains insurance cover on behalf of the Directors and 
Company Secretary indemnifying them against certain liabilities which may be incurred by them in relation to the Group. 
 

Auditor 
Grant Thornton UK LLP, offer themselves for re-appointment as auditor. A resolution to re-appoint Grant Thornton UK LLP will be 
proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. 
 
 
On behalf of the Board. 
 
 
 
 
M P Cairns 
Director 
22 May 2015 
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Corporate governance statement 
 
 
 
 

Corporate governance statement 
The Group is committed to high standards of corporate governance. It has adopted procedures to institute good governance insofar as it 
is practical and appropriate for an organisation of its size and nature, notwithstanding the fact that companies that have securities 
traded on the Alternative Investment Market (AIM) are not required to comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code as appended to 
the Listing Rules issued by the Financial Services Authority. 

As the Group grows, it will regularly review the extent of its corporate governance practices and procedures. At its current stage of 



 

 

Functional reporting and risk management 
The Directors and management have considered the risks facing the business and these are assessed on an ongoing basis. The key 
risks are discussed in the Director’s Report. Other risks which come under the direct control of the Directors include treasury 
management, capital expenditure, insurance, health and safety and regulatory compliance. Risk assessment includes the review of 
potential mitigations. The accounting policies cover several key risks and these are included in the notes. 

 

Statement of Directors' responsibilities 
The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report and the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations. 

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors have elected to 
prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom 
Accounting Standards and applicable laws) for the parent company and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS’s) as 
adopted by the European Union for the group. Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they 
are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs and profit or loss of the company and Group for that period. In 
preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to: 

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

• make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 

• state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards for the parent company and IFRS’s for the group have been 
followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; 

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that tb  



 

 

Directors’ remuneration report  
For the year ended 31 December 2014. 
 
 
The Remuneration Committee comprises M C Rose (Chairman) and M A Rowse who are Non-Executive Directors. The Remuneration 
Committee decides the remuneration policy that applies to Executive Directors and senior management. The Remuneration Committee 
meets regularly in order to consider and set the annual remuneration for the Executive Directors, having regard to personal performance 
and industry remuneration rates. In determining that policy, it considers a number of factors including: 
 

 the basic salaries and benefits available to Executive Directors of comparable companies, 
 the need to attract and retain Directors of an appropriate cali



 

Independent auditor's report to the members of Publishing 
Technology plc 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
We have audited the financial statements of Publishing 
Technology Plc for the year ended 31 December 2014 which 
comprise the Group statement of comprehensive income, the 
Group statement of financial position, the Group statement of 
changes in equity, the Group statement of cash flows, the 
parent company balance sheet and the related notes. The 
financial reporting framework that has been applied in the 
preparation of the group financial statements is applicable law 
and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as 
adopted by the European Union. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in the preparation of the 
parent company financial statements is applicable law and 
United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 
 
This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a 
body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so 
that we might state to the company’s members those matters 
we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for 



 

Group Statement of Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 31 December 2014 
 
 
 
 

 
 
All activities are classified as continuing.  
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 

  Year ended  
31 Dec 14  

Year ended  
31 Dec 13 

 note £’000  £’000 

     

Gross revenue  14,364  16,910 

Less revenue from joint venture 3 (687)  (439) 

Group revenue 2 13,677  16,471 

Cost of sales  (12,068)  (10,703) 

      

Gross profit  1,609  5,768 

     
Sales and marketing expenses  (1,517)  (1,507) 

Administrative expenses  (3,646)  (3,372) 

       

(Loss) / profit from operations  5 (3,554)  889 

     

Share of profit / (loss) from joint venture 3 20  104 

Finance costs 7 (460)  (328) 

       

(Loss) / profit before income tax  (3,994)  665 

Income tax 8 395  216 

       
(Loss) / profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent  (3,599)  881 
     
Other comprehensive expenses which will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:     

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  (5)  (57) 

     

Total comprehensive (loss) / income for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent  (3,604)  824 
     

Basic and diluted (loss) / earnings per share (pence) 9 (42.77)  10.47 

     



 

Group Statement of Financial Position 
As at 31 December 2014 
 
 
 
 
 

 note 
31 Dec 14  31 Dec 13  31 Dec 12 

£’000  £’000  £’000 



 

Group Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 31 December 2014 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
For the year ended 31 December 2013 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Share 
capital 

Merger 
reserve 

Reverse 
acquisition 

reserve 
Translation 

reserve 
Retained 
earnings 

Investment in 
own shares 

Total 
attributable to 

owners of 
parent 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Balance at 1 January 2014 841 11,055 (5,228) (898) (6,208) (7) (445) 

Employee Share Ownership Trust transactions - - - - - 1 1 

Transactions with owners - - - - - 1 1 

        

Loss for the year - - - - (3,599) - (3,599) 

Other comprehensive expense:        
Exchange differences on translating foreign 
operations - - - (6) - - (5) 
Total comprehensive expense for the year  - - - (6) (3,599) - (3,604) 
        

Balance at 31 December 2014 841 11,055 (5,228) (904) (9,807) (6) (4,049) 

 
Share 
capital 

Merger 
reserve 

Reverse 
acquisition 

reserve 



 

Group Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended 31 December 2014 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
Year ended  

31 Dec 14  
Year ended 
 31 Dec 13 

 note £’000  £’000 

      
(Loss)/profit before taxation  (3,994)  665 
     
Adjustments for      



 

Notes to the Group financial statements 
For the Year ended 31 December 2014 
 
 
 
 
 

General information and nature of operations 
Publishing Technology plc (the ‘Company’) and its subsidiaries 
(together the ‘Group') is a provider of content systems, audience 
development and content delivery software and services to 
publishers, information providers, academic libraries and 
institutions. The nature of the Group’s operations and its principal 
activities are set out in the Chairman’s statement and Group 
Strategic report. 
 
The Company is incorporated in the United Kingdom under the 
Companies Act 2006. The Company's registration number is 
837205 and its registered office is 8100 Alec Issigonis Wand  



 

requires knowledge of the customers and the markets in which the 
Group operates. The recognition is based on historical experience 
in the market, and management believes that after-sales-support 
gives rise to income recognition based on services actually 
performed.  

Deferred tax assets 

The assessment of the probability of future taxable income against 
which deferred tax assets can be utilised is based on the Group's 
latest approved forecast, which is adjusted for significant non-
taxable income and expenses and specific limits to the use of any 
unused tax loss or credit. The tax rules in the numerous 
jurisdictions in which the Group operates are also carefully taken 
into consideration. If a positive forecast of taxable income indicates 
the probable use of a deferred tax asset, especially when it can be 
utilised without a time limit, that deferred tax asset is usually 
recognised in full. The recognition of deferred tax assets that are 
subject to certain legal or economic limits or uncertainties are 
assessed individually by management based on the specific facts 
and circumstances. 

Research and development expenditure 

Research and development expenditure is fully written off to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income as costs are incurred. The 
Board have taken into account the inherent risks in all research and 
development expenditure and specifically the expenditure being 
incurred by the business in the year and have concluded that the 
requirements of IAS 38 to capitalise development expenditure have 
not been met. 
 

Estimation uncertainty 
When preparing the financial statements management make a 
number of estimates and assumptions about recognition and 
measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The 
actual results are likely to differ from the judgements, estimates and 
assumptions made by mamM

 m8dit 



 

Property, plant and equipment 

Cost 

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, net of depreciation 
and any provision for impairment. 
 

Depreciation 

Depreciation is calculated using the straight - line method to 
allocate the cost of assets less their estimated residual value over 
their estimated useful lives, as follows: 
 
Leasehold improvements  Over the term of the lease 
Computer equipment    3 yrs 
Fixtures, fittings and equipment   5 yrs 
 
The residual value and the useful life of each asset are reviewed at 
least at each financial year-end and, if expectations differ from 
previous estimates, the change(s) are accounted for as a change in 
an accounting estimate. 

Disposal of assets 

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is 
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 

Intangible assets 

Goodwill 

Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the cost 
of acquisition over the Group’s interest in the fair value of the 
identifiable assets and liabilities of a subsidiary at the date of 
acquisition. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and is carried 
at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses are 
recognised immediately in the income statement and are not 
subsequently reversed. 
 
Goodwill arising on acquisitions before the date of transition to IFRS 
has been retained at the previous UK GAAP amounts subject to 
being tested for impairment at that date and at least annually 
thereafter. 
 
On disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable net book value of 
goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or loss on 
disposal. 
 

Impairment of intangibles and property, plant and equipment 
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at 
the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash 
flows (cash-generating units).  As a result, some assets are tested 
individually for impairment and some are tested at cash-generating 
unit level.  Goodwill is allocated to those cash-generating units that 
are expected to benefit from synergies of the related business 
combination and represent the lowest level within the Group at 
which management monitors the related goodwill. 
 
Goodwill, other individual assets or cash-generating units that 
include goodwill, other intangible assets with an indefinite useful 
life, and those intangible assets not yet available for use are tested 
for impairment at least annually. All other individual assets or cash-
generating units are tested for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may 
not be recoverable. 

 

Financial instruments 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the 
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial 
instrument.  
 
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to 
the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the financial 
asset and all substantial risks and rewards are transferred. A 
financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, 
discharged, cancelled or expires.  
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are measured initially at fair 
value plus transactions costs, except for financial assets and 
financial liabilities carried at fair value through profit or loss, which 
are measured initially at fair value. Financial assets and financial 
liabilities are measured subsequently as described below. 

Financial assets 
The Group classifies its financial assets as 'loans and receivables' 
and 'available for sale'. The classification depends on the purpose 
for which the financial assets were acquired. Management 
determines the classification of its financial assets at initial 
recognition. 
 
The Group assesses at the date of each Statement of Financial 
Position whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or 
a group of financial assets is impaired.  
 

Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed 
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 
They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater 
than 12 months after the Statement of Financial Position date, 
which are classified as non-current assets. Loans and receivables 
are classified as 'trade and other receivables' in the Statement of 
Financial Position. 
 

Trade receivables 

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method; less provision for impairment. A provision for 
impairment of trade receivables is established when there is 
objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all 
amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. 
Significant financial difficulty, high probability of bankruptcy or a 
financial reorganisation and default are considered indicators that 
the trade receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision is the 
difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present 
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at original 
effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income within 'Sales and marketing expenses'. 
When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the 
allowance account for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of 
amounts previously written off are credited against 'Sales and 
marketing expenses' in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 

Available for sale financial assets 





 

without associated implementation where they are additional 
licences within the existing install base. 
 
Revenue within PCG from contracts where the Group acts as sales 
agent is recognised when invoices are sent on behalf of the 
customer to subscribers. The Group raises invoices on behalf of 
customers and collects the remittances from subscribers acting as 
agent and therefore no entries are made in the Group’s ledgers for 
invoices raised. Revenue from these contracts is the commission 
element of the sale earned when invoices are raised to subscribers 
being PCG’s obligations under the agreement. Revenue is therefore 
accrued for invoices raised to subscribers as agent based on the 
percentage commission to be applied to each sale. The Group 
invoices the customer for the Group’s commission monthly in 
arrears when cash receipts are forwarded to the customer. 
 

Employee benefits 

Pension obligations 

The Group operates various pension schemes which are by nature 
defined contribution plans. A defined contribution plan is a pension 
plan under which the Group pays a fixed contribution into a 
separate entity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations 
to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient 
assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee 
service in the current and prior periods. The Group does not 
operate a defined benefit plan. 
 
For defined contribution plans, the Group pays contributions to 
publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans on a 
mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The contributions are 
recognised as employee benefit expenses when they are due. 
 

Share-based employee remuneration 
The Group operates equity-settled share-based remuneration plans 
for its employees. None of the Group's plans feature any options for 
a cash settlement. 
 
All goods and services received in exchange for the grant of any 
share-based payment are measured at their fair values. Where 
employees are rewarded using share-based payments, the fair 
values of employees' services are determined indirectly by 
reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted. This 
fair value is appraised at the grant date and excludes the impact of 
non-market vesting conditions. 
 
All share-based remuneration is ultimately recognised as an 
expense in profit or loss. If vesting periods or other vesting 
conditions apply, the expense is allocated over the vesting period, 
based on the best available estimate of the number of share options 
expected to vest.  
 
Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about 
the number of options that are expected to become exercisable. 
Estimates are subsequently revised, if there is any indication that 
the number of share options expected to vest differs from previous 
estimates. Any cumulative adjustment prior to vesting is recognised 
in the current period. No adjustment is made to any expense 
recognised in prior periods if share options ultimately exercised are 
different to that estimated on vesting. 
 
Upon exercise of share options, the proceeds received net of any 
directly attributable transaction costs up to the nominal value of the 
shares issued are allocated to share capital with any excess being 
recorded as share premium. 

 

Termination benefits 

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated 
by the Group before the normal retirement date or when an 
employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these 
benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits when it is 
demonstrably committed to either terminating the employment 
according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal 
or to providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made to 
encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12 
months after the reporting date are discounted to their present 
value. 
 

Employee Share Ownership Trust (ESOT) 
As the company is deemed to have control of the ESOT, it is 
treated as a subsidiary and consolidated for the purposes of the 
consolidated financial statements. The ESOT's assets (other than 
investments in the company's shares), liabilities, income and 
expenses are included on a line-by-line basis in the consolidated 
financial statements. The ESOT's investment in the company's 
shares is deducted from equity in the consolidated statement of 
financial position as if they were treasury shares. 
 

Finance leases 
The economic ownership of a leased asset is transferred to the 
lessee if the lessee bears substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the leased asset. Where the Group is a lessee in this 
type of arrangement, the related asset is recognised at the 
inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or, if 
lower, the present value of the lease payments plus incidental 
payments, if any. A corresponding amount is recognised as a 
finance lease liability. Leases of land and buildings are classified 
separately and are split into a land and a building element, in 
accordance with the relative fair values of the leasehold interests at 
the date the asset is recognised initially. 
 
The depreciation methods and useful lives for assets held under 
finance leases are described under “Property, Plant and 
Equipment” above. The corresponding finance lease liability is 
reduced by lease payments net of finance charges. The interest 
element of lease payments represents a constant proportion of the 
outstanding capital balance and is charged to profit or loss, as 
finance costs over the period of the lease. 
 

Operating leases 
Leases in which a significant risk and reward of ownership are 
retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments 
made under operating leases are recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income as an integral part of the total lease 
expense and are spread on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term. 

Operating expenses 
Operating expenses are recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income upon utilisation of the service or at the date 
of their origin.  
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Finance cost 
Financing costs comprise interest payable, the amortisation of the 
costs of acquiring finance and the unwinding of discounts that are 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Interest 
payable is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
as it accrues, using the effective interest method.  
 

Income taxes 
The tax expense recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income comprises the sum of deferred tax and current tax not 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. 
Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those 
obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities relating to the 
current or prior reporting periods, that are unpaid at the reporting 
date. Current tax is payable on taxable profit, which differs from 
profit or loss in the financial statements. Calculation of current tax is 
based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 
 
Deferred income taxes are calculated using the liability method on 
temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities and their tax bases. However, deferred tax is not provided 
on the initial recognition of goodwill, or on the initial recognition of 
an asset or liability unless the related transaction is a business 
combination or affects tax or accounting profit.  
 
Deferred tax on temporary differences associated with shares in 
subsidiaries and joint ventures is not provided if reversal of these 
temporary differences can be controlled by the Group and it is 
probable that reversal will occur in the foreseeable future. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated, without 
discounting, at tax rates that are expected to apply to their 
respective period of realisation, provided they are enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. Deferred 
tax liabilities are always provided for in full. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that they will be able to be utilised against future taxable income. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only when the Group 
has a right and intention to set off current tax assets and liabilities 
from the same taxation authority. 
 
Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised as a 
component of tax income or expense in profit or loss, except where 
they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive 
income (such as the revaluation of land) or directly in equity, in 
which case the related deferred tax is also recognised in other 
comprehensive income or equity, respectively. 
 

Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets 
Provisions are recognised when present obligations as a result of a 
past event will probably lead to an outflow of economic resouq  үᴀאӏMᴀ ̾ n



 

manner which is more consistent with internal reporting provided to 
the chief operating decision-maker. 
 

Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards 
that are not yet effective and have not been adopted early by the 
Group 
 
New standards and interpretations currently in issue (as at 30 
January 2014) but not effective for accounting periods commencing 
on 1 January 2013 are: 
 

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
• IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements (effective 1 

January 2014) 
• IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements (effective 1 January 2014) 
• 

 



 

2. Revenue 
 
An analysis of the Group’s revenue (excluding revenue of the equity accounted investment) is detailed below by activity across the 
Group’s operating units: 
 

  Year ended  
31 Dec 14  

Year ended  
31 Dec 13 

£'000  £'000 

     
Licences  347  559 
Consulting Services  2,323  4,620 
Hosted Services  3,280  3,377 
Managed Services  3,015  2,824 
Support and Upgrade  2,683  2,699 
PCG  2,029  2,392 
 







 

 
Year to 31 December 2013 advance Vista Online PCG Consolidated 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

External sales 2,537 7,460 4,082 2,392 16,471 
Segment result (EBITDA) (1,479) 3,302 (771) 320 1,372 

Depreciation (39) (116) (63) - (218) 
Unallocated corporate expenses     (246) 
Restructuring     (43) 
Foreign exchange profit     24 
Operating profit     889 
Share of profit from equity accounted investment                 104 
Finance costs     (328) 
Profit before tax     665 
Tax     216 

Profit after tax     881 
 
 

Other information advance Vista Online PCG Consolidated 
£'000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

      
Capital additions 76 76 76 1 229 
      
Statement of Financial Position      
Assets      
Attributable Goodwill - - 2,661 1,076 3,737 
Segment assets 



 

5. (Loss) / profit from operations 
 
(Loss) / profit from operations has been arrived at after charging: 
 

  
Year ended  

31 Dec 14  
Year ended  

31 Dec 13 

  £’000  £’000 

     
Research and development costs  2,652  2,504 
Net foreign exchange gain /(loss)   19  (24) 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment     
- owned assets  145  121 
- assets under finance leases  83  97 
Operating lease rentals:     
- land and buildings  295  259 
- other  72  89 
Auditor’s remuneration  73  71 
Restructuring costs  88  43 
     

 
A more detailed analysis of auditor’s remuneration on a worldwi





 

8. Tax 

  
Year ended  

31 Dec 14  
Year ended  

31 Dec 13 

  £'000  £'000 

Analysis of credit in the year     
Current tax:     
Current research and development tax credit - UK  400  240 
Current year State tax – US  (15)  (24) 
Adjustment to prior year charge - UK  10  - 
     

Taxation  395  216 

 
The Group has unutilised tax losses at 31 December 2014 in the UK and the USA of £14.9m (2013: £14.7m) and $14.8m (2013: 
$11.9m) respectively. These losses are still to be agreed with the tax authorities in the UK and USA. 
 
The US tax losses are restricted to $491K per annum as a result of change of control legislation. Losses carried forward from the 
change of control in April 2008 are restricted and must be used within 20 years. The Board believes the Group will be able to make use 
of $8.7m (2013: $6.3m) of the total unutilised losses at 31 December 2014. 
 
No deferred tax has been recognised in accordance with advice from US tax accountants on the basis that the US losses are restricted 
and there is uncertainty on the value of losses which will be able to be used. 
 
 
The differences are explained below: 

Reconciliation of tax expense  
Year ended  

31 Dec 14  
Year ended  

31 Dec 13 
  £’000  £’000 

(Loss)/profit on ordinary activities before tax  (3,994)  665 

     
Tax at the UK corporation tax rate of 21.5% (2013: 23.25%)  (859)  155 
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes  3  4 
Additional deduction for Research and Development expenditure  (468)  (583) 
Surrender of losses Research and Development tax credit refund   315  276 
Unrelieved UK losses carried forward  31  34 
Utilisation of US losses  (65)  (74) 
Effect of foreign tax rates  -  19 
Difference in timing of allowances   (61)  (54) 
Adjustment to tax charge in respect of prior years  (10)  (3) 
Unrelieved China losses carried forward  (4)  (24) 
Unrelieved Brazilian losses carried forward  5  34 
Unrelieved Australian losses carried forward  1  - 
Unrelieved US losses carried forward  717  - 

Total taxation  (395)  (216) 

 
United Kingdom Corporation tax is calculated at 21.5% (2013: 23.25%) of the estimated assessable profit for the year. 
 
Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions. A deferred tax asset has not been 
recognised in relation to tax losses due to uncertainty over th



 

9. Earnings per share 
 
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of 



 

 

11. Property, plant and equipment 
 

  
Leasehold 

improvements 
Fixtures and 

fittings 
Computer 
equipment Total 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Cost        

At 1 January 2013  21 233 1,527 1,781 

Additions  5 27 197 229 

Exchange differences  (1) (5) (15) (21) 

At 31 December 2013  25 255 1,709 1,989 

Additions  - - 233 233 

Exchange differences  - 12 42 54 

At 31 December 2014  25 267 1,984 2,276 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment      

At 1 January 2013  11 162 1,265 1,438 

Charge for the year  4 28 186 218 

Exchange differences  - (3) (13) (16) 

At 31 December 2013  15 187 1,438 1,640 

Charge for the year  4 26 197 227 

Exchange differences  - 9 37 46 

At 31 December 2014  19 222 1,672 1,913 

Carrying amount      

At 31 December 2014  6 45 312 363 

At 31 December 2013  10 68 271 349 

At 31 December 2012  10 71 262 343 

      
 
Assets held under finance leases with a net book value of £296K (2013: £167K) are included in property, plant and equipment and £83K 
(2013: £97K) of depreciation was charged on these assets in the year, see note 18 for further details. 
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13. Cash and cash equivalents 
 

  

As at  
31 Dec 14  

As at  
31 Dec 13  

As at  
31 Dec 12 

£'000  £'000  £'000 

Cash at bank and in hand:       

Cash at bank:       
- GBP  20  41  24 
- USD  1,627  942  1,549 
- EUR  1,070  248  198 
- BRL  5  3  2 
- CNY  67  -  - 
Cash in hand – GBP  1  1  1 
   2,790  1,235  1,774 
       
Bank Overdraft - GBP  (4,519)  (2,580)  (2,319) 
        

Net cash and cash equivalents  (1,729)  (1,345)  (545) 

 
‘Net cash and cash equivalents’ is used for the Statement of Group Cash Flows. The net carrying value of cash and cash equivalents is 
considered a reasonable approximation of fair value. 
 

14. Trade and other payables 
 
Trade payables and other payables principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs. The average 
credit period taken for trade purchases is 52 days (2013: 49 days, 2012: 48 days). 
 
The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade payables approximates to their fair value. 
 
Payables falling due within one year: 

  
As at  

31 Dec 14  
As at  

31 Dec 13  
As at  

31 Dec 12 

  £'000  £'000  £'000 

       
Trade payables  843  689  814  

Accruals  1,062  791  1,121 

Finance lease liabilities  155  92  88 

Other payables  2,618  1,250  1,530 

Financial liabilities  4,678  2,822  3,553 

       
Deferred income  3,585  3,969  4,120 

Social security and other taxes   548  663  565 

Non-financial liabilities  4,133  4,632  4,685 

        

Trade and other payables  8,811  7,454  8,238 
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21. Share options 
 
The Group has an approved option scheme which is an H M Revenue and Customs approved scheme available to eligible Directors 
and employees. The total number of options outstanding over ordinary shares of 10p each that have been granted and have not lapsed 
at 31 December 2014 were as follows (2013: 8,844, 2012: 15,644): 
 

Number of Shares Grant Date Exercise Price Expiry Date 

    

100 4 October 2005 £1.95 4 October 2015 
1,000 30 March 2006 £2.16 30 March 2016 
4,000  18 August 2010 £0.62 18 August 2020 

    
5,100       

 
These options are exercisable from the first, second and third anniversaries of the date of grant. The options are non-dilutive because 
the Group holds enough unallocated shares within the Employee Share Ownership Trust (‘ESOT’) which can be used to fulfil their 
exercise. 
 
The change from 31 December 2013 is due to options lapsing as they reached the 10th anniversary of the grant date during the year 
and the exercise of 2,400 options. No charge has been made for the year under IFRS 2 as the Directors do not consider there is a 
material impact on the reported result.  
 
Share options are exercisable up to 10 years after grant. If a recipient ceases to be an eligible employee within 3 years of the grant 
date, the options lapse after one month unless the employee ceases to be an eligible employee by reason of redundancy, retirement, 
injury, disability or death in which case the options lapse after twelve months. 
 

22. Investment in own shares 
 

 Publishing 
Technology 

Shares held in 
trust 

Treasury 
 Shares 

Nominal 
 value Cost 

 Number Number £ £ 

     

At 31 December 2012 250,973 2,447 25,343 7,130 

At 31 December 2013 216,662 2,172 21,883 6,550 

At 31 December 2014 





 

does not borrow or invest in USD other than an intercompany loan denominated in USD between Vista International Ltd and Vista North 
America Holdings Ltd, the currency movement on which offsets within the Group statement of comprehensive income. 
 
In order to mitigate the Group’s foreign currency risk, non GBP cash flows are monitored and excess USD and EUR not required for 
foreign currency expenditure are translated into GBP on an on-going basis. The Group is a net importer of USD being cash flow positive 
in the USA by approximately $2.5m per annum. No further hedging activity is undertaken. The Group does not enter into forward 
exchange contracts. 
 
Foreign currency denominated financial assets and liabilities, translated into GBP at the closing rate, are as follows: 
 

  Short-term 
exposure 

Long-term 
exposure 

  USD USD 
  £’000 £’000 

31 December 2014    

  Financial assets  1,528 - 
  Financial liabilities  (2,538) - 
  Total exposure  (1,010) - 

31 December 2013    

  Financial assets  1,057 - 
  Financial liabilities  (995) - 
  Total exposure  62 - 

 
The following table illustrates the sensitivity of profit and equity with regard to the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities and the 
USD / GBP exchange rate “all other things being equal”. Transactions in EUR are immaterial and therefore movements of the EUR / 
GBP exchange rate have not been analysed.  
 
It assumes a + / - 10% change of the USD / GBP exchange rate for the year ended 31 December 2014 (2013: 10%). This percentage 
has been determined based on the average market volatility in exchange rates in the previous 12 months. The sensitivity analysis is 
based on the Group foreign currency financial instruments held at each reporting date. 
 
If GBP had strengthened against USD by 10% (2013: 10%) then this would have had the following impact: 
 

  Profit for the year Equity 
  USD USD 
  £’000 £’000 

31 December 2014  261 (130) 

31 December 2013  (41) (115) 

 
If GBP had weakened against USD by 10% (2013: 10%) then this would have had the following impact: 
 

  Profit  for the year Equity 

  USD USD 
  £’000 £’000 

31 December 2014  (319) 159 

31 December 2013  50 140 

 
Exposures to foreign exchange rates vary during the year depending on the volume of overseas transactions. Nonetheless, the analysis 
above is considered to be representative of the Group’s exposure to currency risk. 
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Interest rate sensitivity 
The Group’s policy is to minimise interest rate cash flow risk exposures on long term financing. Long term borrowings are therefore 
usually at fixed rates. At 31 December 2014 the Group is exposed to changes in market interest rates through bank borrowings at 
variable interest rates. Other borrowings (being the loans see note 15) are at fixed interest rates. 
 
The following table illustrates the sensitivity of profit and equity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates of + / - 1%. These 
changes are considered to be reasonably possible based on market movements and current market conditions. The calculations are 
based on a change in the average market interest rate for each year, and the financial instruments held at each reporting date that are 
sensitive to changes in interest rates, All other variables are held constant.  
 

  Profit for the year Equity 
  £’000 £’000 

  + 1% - 1% +1% -1% 
      
31 December 2014  (24) 51 (24) 51 
31 December 2013  (30) 30 (30) 30 
31 December 2012  (25) 25 (25) 25 

 

Credit risk analysis 
The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amount of financial assets recognised at the reporting date, as 
summarised below: 

 2014 2013 2012 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 

    
Cash and cash equivalents (note 13) 2,790 1,235 1,774 

Trade and other receivables (note 12) 4,377 5,971 4,762 

 7,167 7,206 6,536 

 
The Group continuously monitors defaults of customers and incorporates this information into its credit risk controls. Where available at 
reasonable cost, external credit ratings and reports on customers are used. The Group’s policy is only to deal with creditworthy 
customers. 
 
The Group’s management considers that the financial assets above that are not impaired or past due for each of the reporting dates 
under review are of good credit quality. 
 
None of the Group’s financial assets are secured by collateral or other credit enhancements. 
Some of the unimpaired trade receivables are past due at the reporting date. Financial assets not impaired can be shown as follows: 

 2014 2013 2012 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 

    
Not more than 3 months 3,026 4,100 3,428 

More than 3 months but less than 6 months 558 214 145 

More than 6 months but not more than 1 year 142 107 72 

More than 1 year 48 35 24 

 3,774 4,456 3,669 

 
In respect of trade and other receivables, the Group is not exposed to any significant credit risk from any single customer or group of 
customers having the same characteristics. Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers in different sectors of the market 
and geographical locations. 
 
The carrying amount of financial assets whose terms have been renegotiated, that would otherwise be past due or impaired is £nil 
(2013: £nil, 2012: £nil). 
 
The credit risk for cash and cash equivalents is considered negligible, since the funds are held with various banks. 
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Liquidity risk analysis 
The Group manages its liquidity needs by monitoring scheduled debt repayments for long term financial liabilities as well as forecast 
cash flows due in day to day business. Liquidity needs are monitored in various time bands. Short term cash flow is monitored daily 
using known daily inflows and outflows for cash flows within 8 to 12 weeks. Medium term cash flows within 12 months are monitored 
using monthly rolling forecasts. Longer term cash flows are monitored using higher level management strategy documents. Net cash 
requirements are compared to borrowing facilities in order to determine headroom or any shortfalls. This analysis shows if available 
borrowing facilities are expected to be sufficient over the lookout period of 15 months to March 2016. 
 
The Group maintains borrowing facilities and enters into finance lease arrangements to meet its liquidity requirements for the medium 
term forecast period (1 year). 
 
As at 31 December 2014, the Group’s financial liabilities have contractual maturities (including interest payments where applicable) as 
summarised below: 

  Current Non-current 
  £’000 £’000 

  Within 6 months 6 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Later than 5 years 

31 December 2014:      
Loans   90 90 1,500 - 
Bank borrowings (note 15)  4,519 - - - 
Short term loans  1,050 - - - 
Finance lease obligations  86 86 145 - 
Trade and other payables (note 14)  4,523 - - - 
Total  10,268 176 1,645 - 

 
This compares to the Group’s financial liabilities in the previous reporting period as follows: 

  Current Non-current 
  £’000 £’000 

  Within 6 months 6 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Later than 5 years 

31 December 2013:      
Loans  90 90 1,500 - 
Bank borrowings (note 15)  2,580 - - - 
Short term loans  - - - - 
Finance lease obligations  51 52 79 - 
Trade and other payables (note 14)  2,730 - - - 
Total  5,451 142 1,579 - 

 
The above amounts reflect the contractual undiscounted cash flows, which may differ to the carrying value of the liabilities at the 



 

An analysis of the Group's liabilities is set out below: 

27. Capital management policies and procedures 
 
The Group’s capital management objectives are: 
 

 To ensure the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern; and  
 To provide an adequate return to shareholders 

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the carrying amount of equity plus the loan notes less cash and cash equivalents. The 
Group’s goal in capital management is a capital to overall financing ratio of 1:6 to 1:4. 
 
The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to its overall financing structure, i.e. equity and financial liabilities other than the loan 
notes. The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk 
characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amounts of 
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, or sell assets to reduce debt. 
 
Capital for the reporting periods under review is summarised as follows: 

 2014 2013 2012 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 

       
Total equity (4,049) (445) (1,269) 
Loan notes 1,500 1,500 1,500 
Short term loans 1,050 - - 
Cash and cash equivalents 1,729 1,345 545 
Capital 230 2,400 776 
    
Total equity (4,049) (445) (1,269) 
Borrowings 7,069 4,729 3,819 
Overall financing 3,020 4,284 2,550 
    
Capital to overall financing ratio 0.08 0.56 0.30 

 
 

28. Post balance sheet events 
 
The Group has announced an equity raising of £9m. Further details are included within the Chairman’s statement.  
 

 As at 31 December 2014 As at 31 December 2013 

 
Financial 

liabilities at 
amortised cost 

Non-financial 
liabilities 

Total for 
financial 
position 
heading 

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost 
Non-financial 

liabilities 

Total for 
financial 
position 
heading 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

       
Trade payables 843 - 843 689 - 689 
Social security and other taxes - 548 548 - 663 663 
Finance leases - 289 289 - 164 164 
Other payables 2,618 - 2,618 1,250 - 1,250 
Accruals 1,062 - 1,062 791 - 791 
Deferred income - 3,585 3,585 - 3,969 3,969 
Bank overdrafts 4,519 - 4,519 2,580 - 2,580 
Short term loans 1,050 - 1,050 - - - 
Loan note 1,500 - 1,500 1,500 - 1,500 
Provisions - - -  - - 

 11,592 4,422 16,014 6,810 4,796 11,606 
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Company Balance Sheet 
As at 31 December 2014 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 note 

2014  2013 

£’000  £’000 

Non current assets     
Investments 3 6,236  3,270 
     
Current assets     
Debtors  4 -  2,680 
     



 

Notes to the Company financial statements 
 
 

1. Accounting Policies 
The financial statements have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention, and in accordance with applicable 
accounting standards in the United Kingdom. A summary of 
the principal Company accounting policies, which have been 
applied consistently, is set out below. 
 

Investments 
Investments held as fixed assets are stated at cost less any 
provision for impairment in value. 
 
Intercompany loans are long term in nature and have been 
classified as investments. 
 
The Directors do not believe the investments have been 
impaired based on the findings of the wider impairment review 
detailed in note 10 of the Group accounts.  
 

Borrowings 
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the 
Company has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the 
liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date. 
 

Going concern 
The Directors have prepared the financial statements on the 
going concern basis which assumes that the parent company 
and its subsidiaries will continue in operational existence for 
the foreseeable future. 
 
The Directors have prepared trading projections to June 2016 
which have been used to assess the feasibility of the going 
concern assumption. On the basis of the trading projections 
the Directors believe that the Company will be able to continue 
in operational existence for the foreseeable future. It is 
therefore considered appropriate to use the going concern 
basis to compile these financial statements 
 
(refer to the Group Strategic report on page 8 and the Group 
accounting policies). 
 

Share options 
The Company has an Approved and an Executive option 
scheme. The Company has not recognised a share based 
payment charge within its accounts as the charge is not 
deemed material for the year. 
 

Foreign currencies  
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the 
balance sheet date. 
 
Transactions in foreign currencies during the year are 
recorded at a monthly estimated rate set at the beginning of 

each month. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from 
the settlement of such transactions and from the 
remeasurement of monetary items at year-end exchange rates 
are recognised in profit or loss. Non-monetary items measured 
at historical cost are translated using the exchange rates at the 
date of the transaction and not subsequently retranslated. 

Deferred taxation 
Provision is made for deferred taxation, using the full provision 
method, on all material timing differences. Deferred taxation 
has been recognised as a liability or asset if transactions have 
occurred at the balance sheet date that give rise to an 
obligation to pay more taxation in the future, or a right to pay 
less taxation in the future. An asset is not recognised to the 
extent that the transfer of economic benefits in the future is 
uncertain. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated, without 
discounting, at tax rates that are expected to apply to their 
respective period of realisation, provided they are enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 
Deferred tax liabilities are always provided for in full. 
 

Financial instruments 
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified 
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements 
entered into. An equity instrument is any contract that 
evidences a residual interest in the assets of the entity after 
deducting all of its financial liabilities. 
 
Where the contractual obligations of financial instruments 
(including share capital) are equivalent to a similar debt 
instrument, those financial instruments are classed as financial 
liabilities. Financial liabilities are presented as such in the 
balance sheet. Finance costs and gains or losses relating to 
financial liabilities are included in the profit and loss account. 
Finance costs are calculated so as to produce a constant rate 
of return on the outstanding liability. 
 
Where the contractual terms of share capital do not have any 
terms meeting the definition of a financial liability then this is 
classed as an equity instrumen





 

6. Creditors: amounts falling due after one year 
 

  2014 2013 
  £'000 £'000 

Debt:    
Loan note (note 9)  1,500 1,500   

 
 

7. Share Capital 
  2014 2013 
  £'000 £'000 
    
Authorised:    
12,000,000 ordinary shares of 10p each  1,200 1,200 
    
Issued and fully paid:    
8,413,610 ordinary shares of 10p each  841 841 

 
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of 
the Company.  
 

8. Equity and Reserves 

  Share capital 
Profit and loss 

account Total 
  £'000 £'000 £'000 

     
At 31 December 2013  841 2,199 3,040 

Retained loss for the year  -  (145) (145) 

At 31 December 2014  841 2,054 2,895 

 

9. Borrowings 

 
  2014 2013 
  £'000 £'000 

 v

  



 

Loan note 
 
The base interest rate on the loan note issued by Publishing Technology plc is 8%. If the Company does not pay any sum payable 
under this Instrument within 14 days of its due date, the balance for the time being outstanding is subject to default interest. Default 
interest is set at 4% above the base interest rate. 
 



 



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<
    /ARA <FEFF06270633062A062E062F064500200647063ARA <FVZF06244VZF5647962E062F062E062F062EA64500204VZF56446647462F062E16450020862EB62F062E66442645000410020002FFVZF6456a647462F062E1D34100U00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
 eMinResolutionPolicy /(ToMediaBoxOffse. Web43utionPoliTei3ARA <FVZF06244VZF5647962E062j22Sdd<xToageDtAon 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPoalicy /(6644264500ffset [
    0.000hreshol  0.00000
6 0.000hreshol  26450004C <FVZF0F  /GrayIma 26450000
  /onPoalicA  /Gr61BrayImagAlicy /4300000ayImageMi46647D0
    0.00000
 eMinResolutionP Web43utionPoliTionPoalicy /000
    03  /GrayIma 80204VZF56446647462F062ionPo5utionPolicy   72/(ToMediaBolic740
    0.0Policy /(ToMediaBoxOffse. iaBoxOf6licy /(T5  72/(yIma y /(562F062ionP300
   03xOffE 0300
    0.000264500041002562F062ionP3000.000hreshol  264500043647D02F062iBOffE /(562F062ionP300
   03xOffE 0300
    0.000264500041002562F062ionP3000.000hreshol  264500043647D02F062iBOffE>2E062FBGREA6450041804(6643f643e643b04(664326430Po0
 442643xOffse442643xO4(66438Offse43d6430Pooli442643uti3e643
 43a6438OffcOffse4376430Pffse4346430Pffse4oli44ae43764346430Po026430Po42643xOffsePolicy /(TfMediaBoxOffse. Web43utionPoli434643e 43a6443043c643xO4(dPo426438OffcOffse43c6430Po0ae4oli438e43c6430Po0be43d643eOffse43f643uti38e433643e 434643xO4(dPo38Offse4376430Pffse4326438O4oli43e 43a643e 43a643eb437643xO4oli4426432643xO4(dPffse43f643xO4o76430Po426ffse4376430Pffse43f643uti35 434643f643xO4o76430Po42643d6430Pffse43f643e 4346433643e 442643e6432643a6430PffeOffseffse42li44ae43764346430Po04643xO4(dPo38Oo42643xOffseP Web43utionPoli434643e 43a6443043c643xO4(dPo426438Offse43c643e64336430Po426ffse4346430Pffse4oli43xOffse43e 44264326430Po40Po4fPo426ffse441utionPolicy   72/(TfMediaBolic740
   438OffsePolicy /(TfMediaBoxOffse. iaBoxOf6licy /(T5  72/(yIm03xOffe 0300
   438Offse4oli43bti35 43464326430Po496438Offse432643xO440e4oli438e438Offe>2E062FCHSEA64504f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684OffsePolicy /(TfMediaBoxOffse. Web43utionPol658768ffset 75284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845376524d5376523730PnRea853ef4ee54f7f7528utionPolicy   72/(TfMediaBolic740
  548cOffsePolicy /(TfMediaBoxOffse. iaBoxOf6licy /(T5  72/(yIm03xOffe 0300
  4ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676504135fe. i1b5efa7684OffseP Web43utionPol658768ff30Pn>2E062FCHTEA64504f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684OffsePolicy /(TfMediaBoxOffse. Web43utionPol65874ef6Gr69752865bc9ad854c18cea76845376524d53765237865574cy   nRea853ef4ee54f7f7528utionPolicy   72/(TfMediaBolic740
  548cOffsePolicy /(TfMediaBoxOffse. iaBoxOf6licy /(T5  72/(yIm03xOffe 0300
  4ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb7684OffseP Web43utionPol65874ef630Pn>2E062FCZEEA64500 54aBolic740
TfMefseP6eaBolic73ic740
Tlic76aBoxOf6eaBedPffse0700
TfMe75017eaBoset6aic740
TxOffse.6bPffse076aB79ic740
76aBe10159aBoxOf6eaBedPffse0y /(TfMedbMe75006daBoxOf6eaB7401TfMefsePolicy /(TfMediaBoxOffse. Web43utionPocOffse.6bPf7 /(T5  72/(e9Pffse0730
TxOffse.6eaBoxOf6aic6c/(e9Pf700
TxOffse.68/(TfMed4aBedPffse0700
72/(TfMefse.6bPf76Of6licycaBoset7 /(TeaBedPffse074aBoset73e.6bPffse061Pffse0700
72/(T5e0700
72/(T5e073e073e0feOffseffse056aB79ic740
76aBTfM159aBoxOf6eaBe9Pffse0y /(TfMedbMe75006daBoxOf6eaB740B79icfseP Web43utionPoliediaB7500640
TxOffse.6daBTfM17eaBoeaBe9Pffse0yfPf7 /(T5  76M159aBedPf740
   
76aBfse0700
72/(TfMe670
72/(T1006daBoxOf63e.68/(ionPolicy   72/(TfMediaBolic740
   061Pffse0olicy /(TfMediaBoxOffse. iaBoxOf6licy /(T5  72/(yIm03xOffe 0300
   061Pffse06eaBof  76M11bOf6ai161PfedPf63e.68/(ie>2E062FDANEA64500 426f7iaB750067Pffse069e06eaBo4ic73ic740
T9icycaBoce069e06eaBo7/(T5  72/(6eaBoxOffse074aBoset6c0
   061Pf740
   06fe0700
72/(T5e074ic740
TxOffse.olicy /(TfMediaBoxOffse. Web43utionPode0y /(TfMedbMe75006daBoxOf6eaB740BT5  72/(ycPffse0y /(T5  72/(yIm0diaBoxOfo4ic73ic740
200
TxOfo7/(Te/(T5  72/(yIm073e.690067Pffse074aBoset6c0
   0700
72/(T5e0700
72/(T5e073e073e0fdaB7500640
73e.6bPf72/(T90
76aBTee069e06eaBo7/(   061Pf66Offse.68/(f8Of6aicfse.6bPf76Of6licycaBoset7 /(T5e074icfeOffsef440
TxOffse.6fe0700
72/(T5e074ic740
TxOf640
TxOffse. Web43utionPode0y /(TfMedbMe75006daBoxOf6eaB740BT5  72/(yse.6bPf6licyeOffsefe5m0diaBoe/(T5e073e0fse069e0ionPolicy   72/(TfMediaBolic740
   065icycaBoce065  72/(yse.olicy   72/(TfMediaBolic740
   0 iaBoxOf6licy /(T5  72/(yIm03xOffe 0300
   06faBo7/(   06e0B79icT5  72/(65/(ie>2E062FDEUEA64500 56icT5  72/(77aBoxOf6eaBy /(T5  yeOffsef53e.690065Pffse0y /(T9/(T5e073e0TxOffse.o5e069e06eaB73ic740
T5icycaBoce075e06eaBo7/(T5  yeOffsef7aMe75006daBfse.o5e072/(73ic740
T5icycaBoce0T5  yeOffsef76 06faBoeOffse.olicy /(TfMediaBoxOffse. Web43utionPode04 /(TfMedbMe75006daBoxOf6eaB740BT5  oeOffcOffsef76 06faBoeOffse.y /(T5  yeOfT5  yeOffsef53e.690065Pffse0y8/(TfMed3e.68/(77/(T5  72/(74aBoset67aBoxOffse. Web72/(T5e0700
72/(T5e073e073e0fdaB4 /(7iaB750063e.6bPf65Pffse0y5  72/(7ae0y5  75aBo7/(T5  yeOffsef6daBf6Med3e.68/(740BT5  oeOffeaBfse.o5e072/(73ic740
T5icycaBoce074aBoxOffse. Web43utionPode04 /(TfMedbMe75006daBoxOf6eaB740BT5  yse.6bPff6aBTee06e/(T5  yeOffsef6daBoset7 /(yse.olicy   72/(TfMediaBolic740
   07xOf6eaBy /(fse0olicy /(TfMediaBoxOffse. iaBoxOf6licy /(T5  72/(yIm03xOffe 0300
   06fe0y /(T5  72/(yIm0d8Pff6aBT8/(T5  72/(yIm0d7/(T5  f6aBT6aBT6aBTe/(T5e074icf0/(77/(T5  72/(y /(T5  yeOffe>2E062FESPEA64500 55ic740
T9icycaBo9Med3e.65Pffse0y5  73ic740
Tlicfse0y3 06faBoeOfT6aBTset67aB750
72/(T10063e.6900f3  yeOffsef7  061Pf720
Tlicfse0y3 07iaBoxOf6lic72/(yIm0d4/(TfMed3e.75006daBoxOf6eaB740BTfe073e0fse0 Web43utionPolied40
TxOffse.olicy /(TfMediaBoxOffse.6licy /(T5  d3e.75006licy /(TfMe73e0fse07  061Pf720
Tlicfse0y9006daB700
72/(T5e073e06900f3  yeOffsef7  072/(65/(id0
TxOf640
T9aB740BTfe072/(T90
6licycaBolied40
TxOffse.6licycaB740
Tlicfse0y3 06licycaBoset64006licy /(2eOffsef53e.65Offsef7  0750
TxOf640
TxOfyeOffsef61iediaB72/(T90
72/(yIm0d4/(TfMed3e.75006daBoxOf6eaB740BTfe073e0fse0 Web43utionPolied3 07iaBoxOf6licy /(TfMe73e0fse0y3 06faBoeOfyse.olicy   72/(TfMediaBolic740
 c/(fse0olicy /(TfMediaBoxOffse. iaBoxOf6licy /(T5  72/(yIm03xOffe 0300
   079icfseP76icT5  72/(73e.69006faBoe/(T5e073e0fse0700
TfMe73aB740BT5  72/(69006faB72/(T5e073e0fe>2E062FETIEA64500 4baBolic73ic75aB740
Tlic67aBoxOffse.6e/(T5  y9aBy /(fse073ice4e074ic740
TxOf69aBy /(fse06bPf76Of6licycaBoset7 /(T5e0T5e074ic73aBoxOffse074aB72/(fce.6bPf69/(T5e0T5e0ycaB73e.65Offsef7  072e069e06eaB74e0y9006daBoset73e.6xOffse.6aOf6licyfMedbMe73/(yIm073e.6fMediaBo9icycaBo9Medb0
TxOffse.olicy /(TfMediaBoxOffse. Web43utionPode0y /(TfMedbMe75006daBoxOf6eaB740BT9ied40
TxOffse.6c/(TfMedf006daBoset73e.6xOfdbMe73/(yeOffseffse04c/(TfMedf0064aB7500640
fse. Web43utionPode0y /(TfMedbMe75006daBoxOf6eaB740BT5  yIm073e.61aBolic740
TxOffse.6lic76Of6licy4e061Pffse0700
72/(TfMe670
72/(T1006daBod0BT9ied40
TxOf67aBo1e0ionPolicy   72/(TfMediaBolic740
   06ee069e06eaBo7/(   0olicy /(TfMediaBoxOffse. iaBoxOf6licy /(T5  72/(yIm03xOffe 0300
   06ae061Pffse075 0750
TxOf6daBolic740
TxOffse.76icT5  72/(73e.69006faBof 06ee069e0640
TxOf67aBo1e0iee00daB0a>2E062FF62EA64500 55ic740
T9icycaBo9Me73e.6xOf7ae0fse0y3 065e073e0fse06fe0700
74e.69006faBoe/(73e0fse061OfT6aBTset6eaBolied40
TxOffse.63  72/(e9PfT5  72/(yIm0d4 065e073e0fse064/(TfMed3e.75006daBoxOf6eaB740B73e0fse0olicy /(TfMediaBoxOffse. Web43utionPoli0700
TfMe750 72/(yIm075/(6eaBoxOffse071e.75006licycaBoset7 /(e9Pffse0y /(27e0y9006daB700
72/(T5e073e073e.69006faBoe/(fse0700
72/(e9Pf700
72/(T5e073e073e.65OffeaBfse.oc 065e073e0fse064/(TfMed3e.75006daBoxOf6eaB740B73e0fse0 Web43utionPolied3 07iaBe9Pfe9e073e0fse0700
T5 0750
76aBoxOf6eaB740
   0eae074aB72/(TxOffse.6fe075e.76icT5  72/(74e073e0fse064/(T1aBoe/(73e0fse0olicy   72/(TfMediaBolic740
 c/(fse0T1aBo9e06eaB73ic69e0ionP71e.750027e0olicy /(TfMediaBoxOffse. iaBoxOf6licy /(T5  72/(yIm03xOffe 0300
   065Pf740
   
76aBT5  72/(73e.69006faBoe/(73e0fse075icycaB740
e9 072e069e065aB750
72/(T5e073e0fe>2E062FGREEA645003a703c103b703c303b903bc03bf03c003bf03b903ae03c303c403bxOffse3b103c503c403ad03c2/(yIm3c403b903c2/(yIm3c103c503b803bc03af03c303b503b903c2/(yIm3b303b903b1/(yIm3bd03b1/(yIm3b403b703bc03b903bf03c503c103b303ae03c303b503c403bxOffse3ad03b303b303c103b103c603b1/(yIm0olicy /(TfMediaBoxOffse. Web43utionPoli3c003bf03cxOffse3b503af03bd03b1/3b90ffse3ba03b103c42019Offse3b503be03bf03c703ae03bd0ffse3ba03b103c403ac03bb03bb03b703bb03b1/(yIm3b303b903b1/(yIm3cIm3c103bfnPode3b503ba03c403c503cIm3c9m3c403b903ba039/(T5eeverEmbed [OBMacA17T 43a6438OffcOf2I50
72/(T5e073e0fen0aB7p3ba03b1084OffseIm3Web43utionPoli0u  72/(o61Pffse0700
72/(v03b903bf03c5m6eaBo7/(T5  yeOfb403b703bc0nf803bc03af03c303b503b903c2/(yIm3b303b903b1/(yiaBoxOffsc03b903bf03c103bf03cd3af03bd03b1m3c103c503b813b1m3c1A17T 43aOf2I50
7f03cd3af03bd03b1c3b703bc0nfI50
7f072/(TxOffse.6fe075e.76icT5  72/(74e073e0fI50
7f072/(TxOffsaBolic740
 c/(fse0T1aBo9e06eaB73ic69e0ionP71e.750027e0olicy /(b1/3b90ffiaBoxOffsc03eOfb403b7nPode3b553b1m3c7/(T562FGREEA643c103b5(yIm3cIm3c103b1/3b9443a643803c503c403ad03c2aBoe/(73HEBse075ic5D405E905EAc5DE05E905D/(fse05D1c5D405D205D305E805D/(5EAcfse05De05DCc5D40fse05DB05D305D90fse05DC05D905E605D/(5E80fse05DE05E105DE05DB05D9647462F062E1D34100U00000
    0.00000
    0.005D405DE05D/(5EAc5De05DE05D905DD0fse05DC05D405D305E405E105EAcfse05E705D305DD0fsD05D305E405D/(5E1cfse05De05D905DB05D/(5EAc5D905EAcfsE0fse05DE05E105DE05DB05D9647462.00000
    0.005E905E005D/(5E605E805D/(0.005E0c5D905EAc5E0c5D905DD0fse05DC05E405EAc5D905D7c5D40fse05D1c5De05DE05E605E205D/(5EAcfse0cy /000
    03  /GrayIma 80204VZ5D/(0.D446647462F062ionPo5utionPolicy   72/(ToMediaBolic740
.000hreshol  2645D/(5D205E805E1c5De05D/(5EAcfse05DE05EAc5E705D305DE05D/(5EAcfse05D905D/(5EAc5E80fsEc5De05DE05D905DD0fse05DC00.D44.00000
    0.006f800.D4472486C(0.005E205D905D905E005D/(fse05D1c5DE05D305E805D905DA0fse05DC05DE05E905EAc5DE05E900.005E905DCcfse0cy /000
    03  /GrayIma 80204E0fse05DE05E105DE05DB05D9647462.00000
    0.005E905E005D/(5E605E805D/(0.005E0c5D905EAc5E0c5D905DD0fse05DC05E405EAc5D905D7c5D40fse05D1c5De05DE05E605E205D/(5EAcfse0cy /000
    03  /GrayIma 80204VZ5D/(0.D446647462F062ionPo5utionPolicy   72/(ToMediaBolic740
.000hreshol  2645D/(5D205E805E1c5De05D/(5EAcfse05DE05EAc5E705D305DE05D/(5EAcfse05D905D/(5EAc5E80fsEBoe/(73HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvliasetni ispis prije tiskanja kor /Mate ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)oe/(73HUNse0700
TfMe739ffse0700
300
 f3(TfMedbMe750062/(15aB740BTeicycaB171c740
   0 iaBoxe0y /(Tf40fse064/(T5m0diaBoe/(15aB7seff3e.750061e0i500640
15aB740
   0 iaBoxe0y /(T77acb7684OffeaB740BTsef76 061e0iee00dcf6daBolic74ied40
Txb0700
302
302
3fMedbMe75aBolic746 yeOffsef6daBoe/(15aB72/(yIm0d4 065e073e0fse064/(TfMed3e.75006daBo3e073e0feOffseffse056aB79ic740
76506daBoxOf Web43utisefe5m0diaBo00
72/(TWeb43b yeOffsef6 /(TfMediaBoxe0fse0600
300
 onPocd684OffeaB740BTsf(TWeb43b ye00f3  yeOffseff3e.750061e0i500640
y /(T5  724f6eaB740BT9ied410iee00dcf6e9ed3 07iaBe9Pfesef76 061e0iWeb43uti74064/(TfMed3e.75006daBo3e073e0feOffseffse056aB79ic740
76506daBoxOf Web4 /(TfMedba061Pffse0700
72/(TfMe670
72/(T1006daBo3e.75006daBofMedba061Pffse070aBolic740
 c/(fse0T1aBo9e06eaB73ic69e0ionP71e.750027e0olicy e. Web43utio006faB7fMediaBofMedba061Pff2/(T10061006fMe73  yeOffseff3e.750015aB7s2B74e0y9006xOffse. iaBoxOf6lacy /(TfMe73eb43b ye00f3  yeOffs 0 iaBox90640
y /(T51061006fMe73b
3fMedbMe75aBolic72aBoe/(73IT73e.69006faBof 06ee069e0640
Txaf6lacy 107iaBe9Pfe9e07xOffse. W5
   079icfseP7se.6licy /(T5  d00
   079icfs1f6lacy /(Tse075 0750
TdaBoxOf6eaB742fT6aBTset67aB750
72/(T1006DEUEA64500 56ef7  0750
TxOf640
TxOfyeOffs9 72/(yIm0d4 065e073e0fse064/(TfMed3e.75006daBoxOf6e/(Tf9BTfe073e0fse0 W/(T1006100669(TfMefse.6bPf765b43utionPo40
200
TxOfo7/(Te 079icfs1f6 /(T5  d01UEA64500 56icT2/(65/(id0
TxOf640
T9aB7xOffse. Web43utionPoli0706430Po4264349UEA64500 56ef7  0750
TxOf640
TxOfyeOffs9 72/(y2/(T90
72/(yIm0d4/(TfMed3e.75006eOffs9 72/(y5  d00
   07964500 55ic74f(y /(T5  yeOffe3BoxOf6licy /(T5Pff2/(T10.y /(T5  yeOfT5  y40BTfe073e0fse0 Web43utionPolied3 07iaBoxOf6licy 0.6xOffse.6aOf6licyfMedbMe73/(yIm073aBo9e06eaB73ic69e0ionP71e.750027e0olicy /(TfMediaBoxOffse. iaBoxOf6licy /(T5  72icy /(TfMedset67aBox3ffse071e.75006licyxOffse. 2aBoe/(73JPNse0700Policy /(TfM306M30d500eM30d500e803b951fa529bad854c18cea768462FCHSEA64504f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a526f8306e4f5c4264306b5bc9ad853055007e3059006d305onP eP We43xOnP 74f5c426430553088035ff7f75288fd94e9b8bbe530d530a130a400ede36fMe71b43utionPolied3 07iaBoxOf6licy 0304OnP85305  72/(yIm0d4 065e073e0fse064/(Tf  72/(TfMediaBolic740
  548cOffsePolicy /(TfM964dnP 7cy /304f305onP 5304cnP 7304d007e3059006d305onP eP We43xOnP de36fMed530a900fonPc8306e57cde3818fbcnP7f304c5fc59808nP 73059006dBoe/(73KOF062ionc7licy 0c124c815c74icy 0c0acc6a9d558c5e  yeOace0d488c9c54c18c2dcd5d54c18c778c1c4c5d0 yeOac08c7ae064/c541d569d55c4c18cea768462FCHSEA64504f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5bb38c11cb97c4c18c791c131d569b2c8b2e4f6eaB740c7lib86lac8c4c18c791c131b41cf7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5bb38c11cb29aBoxOf6eaB740BT5  yse.6bPff6aBTee06e/bc0f072/(TxOffsaBolic740
 c/(fse0T1aBo9e06eaB73ic69e0ionP71e.750027e0olicy /c7lic0c1c5d0c11ccy /c5ficy 0c2154c18c788c2b5b2c8b2e4f6eaBoe/(73LTHse0700
TfutionPol5Bo3e073e0feOff9aBy /(fse071e.1se064/(Tl5Bo3Offse.olicy /(TfMediaBoxOffxOf640
T7/(74aBoset65006daBofe 72/(73e.117(Tf40fse064dfT5  y40BTfbBT5  72/(7eOffs9 72/(yIm0d4 065e073e0fse064/(TfMed3e.75006daBo3e073e0feOffseffse056aB79ic740
765065006dc y40BTfbBT5  72/(75  oeOffcOffsct64006licy3e06900f7006licy /(Tse064/(T5m0d4ic73aBoxOff740fse064/(TfbBT5906100669(TfMefse.67/(TWeb1b7684OffseP 5006daBofb073e0feOffs906lic117(Tse.olicy /(TfMediaBoxe0y /(T9/(Tf 06ee069ecy /(Tse064dcy /(TfMeds006900f7006licy  06ee069ecy /(Ts0067Pffs9074aBoset73e.6b3.67/(TWebT5  72/(7eOffs9 72/(yfMed3e.75006daBo3e073e0feOffseffse056aB79ic740
7se064/(T5m0di7. Web43utionPoiaBoxe01eaB7401Tf9061Pff2/(T100690
6licycaBo5  yse.6bdf6eaB740BT5  72/(yse.6bPf6licyeOffsefe5m0di90fse069e0ionPolOf63e.68/(ionPolicy   72/(TfMediaBolic740
   061Pffse0olicy /(TfMed3e0fse0ol6.117(Tf006faBoe/(f2/(117(Tf/(TfMedbMe7iaBoxOffse. iaBoxOf6licy aPode0y /(TfMedbMe7eaBoe/(73LVfse0700
Tf0
Txaf6licy /(TxOfyeOffsef66a
   
76aBT54071e.1se064f06daBoxOf6eaB77/(Te 079icfs1f640
12Of6licfseffse0565065006dc y40BTfc(Tse064/(T5m0d46c75aB740
Tlic6Web43uti75 72/(yIm0d4 065e073e0fse064/(TfMed3e.75006daBo3e073e0feOffseffse056aB79ic740
765065006dc y40BTfbBT3aB740BT5m0di90fse069e012Of6s0069001se064/(T5m0d4ic76Of6licycd(11/(yse.6bPf6100669(TfMefse.67/(TW7(Te 079icfs1f643c67aBoxOffse.6e/(T5  y9aBy /(10/(T5  72/(yse.olicy /(TfPf740
  dBoxOf6licy 5(TfMeds0069icy 5(1Web43uti3utionPol658daBo3e074aBoset67b(Tse064/(T5Po4264349UExaf6l6c75aB740
Tlic6Web46a
   
76aBT54071e.TfMed3e.75006daBo3e073e0feOffseffse056aB79ic740
765065006dc y40BTfbBT3f. Web43utio00642fT6aBTs1061Pffse011/(yse.6fMe670
72/(Tse069e0ionPolicy   72/(TfMediaBolic740
 75e75006daBfse.o5e072/(73ic740
T5icycaBo9e06eaB73ic69e0ionP71e.750027e0olicy e. Web4Web101e670
72/(Tse012Of6iaBoxOfo4fcy /(TfMediaBo75e7500101e6Web101e64dcy /(TfOffse. iaBoxOf6licy aP101e64dcy aBoe/(73NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwliaseit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)oe/(73NOF062ionffse06eaBof  76bUEA64500 56icT00
72/(T5e073Of6ai161Pfedef63e.68/(ie>2E062FDANEA64500 426f7iaB77Pffse069e06eaBo4ic73ic740
Te/(f8Of6aicfse.6baBo7/(T5  72/(6eaBoxOffse074aBoset6c0
   061Pf740
   06fe0700
72/(T5e074ic740
TxOffse.olicy /(TfMediaBoxOffse069e06eaB74d. Web72/(T5e07iaBoxe0fse06daBoxOf6eaB740BT5  72/(ycPffsOf6eaB746 72/(73e.6eaB746 740
750
76aBox2ffs906lb06daBoxOf67ice4e074ic74et6c0
   0746 7fMe670
72/(Tse0fdaB7500640
779.6bPf72/(T90
76aBTee069e06eaBo7/(   061Pf66Off  06fe0700
72/(T5e074ic740
TxOffse.olicy /(TfMediaBo7Pffse069e06Web43utionPode0y /(T700dbMe75006daBoxOf6eaB740BT5  72/(yse.6bPf6licyeOffsefe5m0diaBoe/(T5e073e0fse069e0ionPolicyfMedbMe73/(yIm073aBo9e06eaB73ic69e0ionP71e.750027e0olicy /(TfMede/(T5e073e0fse069e0ibMe75006de0oxOf6licy /(T5  72/(yIPOL3e.69006faBof 079icfs1f647c76Of6licycecy /(Tse06daBo3e073e0fxOf69aBy 7 72/(73e.600
72/(TWecy /(Tse06daBo3e073e0f40
TxOffse.olicy /(TfMedfMe777064/(TfMed3e.75006daBoxOf65e0700
72/(T5ati3utionPo63061e0iWeb4s 0 iaBoxM159aBedPf73e073e0fxOf69aB7fMed3e074aBoset67b(TfMe777064/(T77064/(T770679B740BTsf(TWeb43Of6licyca0T5e0ycaB73e.65bBT3f.15bffse0y5  7eaB740BT9ied4e073e0feOffseffse056aB79ic740
76aBTfM159aBoxOf6eaBe9PffsaBoxOf6ecb43utionPo40
2Web43uti77c76Of6licyiaBoxOf107064/(T77064/(T70BT5  yIm073e.61aBolic740
Tx9BoxOffse074aBos/(yse.6bPf6licyeOffsefe5m0di90f9e0ionPolicyfMedbMe73/(yIm073aBo9e06eaB73ic69e0ionP71e.750027e0olicy /(Tf906daBofe 72/(737.750061e0i79e64dcy aBoe/(73PTB3e.69006faBof 06ee069e0640
Txaf62/(y /(T5  yeOffe3tionPol658daBo364500 55ic740
T9icycaBo9Med3e.65PffeaBof506faBoe/(fse0700
725f6eaB746 72/(73e.6licy /(T /(TfMediaBox3(T5e073e06900fsef53e.65Offsef7  0750
TxOf640
TxOfyeOffsef61iediaB7Im0d4 065e073e0fse064/(TfMed3e.75006daBo3d(Tse064/(T9Me73e.6xOf7aic69e0io1tionPolied40
TxOffse.olicy /(TfMediaBoxOffse.69Pffse0y /(22d(yIm075/(6eaBoxOffse071e.75006f506faBoe/(fse0700
725f6eaB74/(id0
TxOf640
T9aB7xOffse. Web43utionPolicycaBolied5e073e073e.69fBoe/(fse0700
72/(e9Pf700
72/(T5e073e073e.6sef61iediaB72/(T90
72/(yIm0d4/(TfMed39Polied40
TxOffse.olicy /(TfMediaBoxOff4dcy /(TfMed2/(T5e07iaBox1Boxe0fse06d2684OffseP 5006daBofe06eaB74d. Web72f0 Web43utionPolied3 07iaBoxOf6licy 0.6xOffse.66fffse.6aOf6licyfMedbMe73/(yIm073aBo9e06eaB73ic69e0ionP71e.750027e0olicy /(TfMediaBoxOffse. iaBoxOf6f506faBoe/(fse07e 0300
   079icfseP76icT5  72/(73e.69006faBoe/(T5e073RUM3e.69006faBof 06ee069e0640
Txaf62001s3 56icT2/(65/(id3. W5
   079icfseP7se.6fMed2/(T5/(10/(TfMed39PodaBoxOf6eaB79ic740
762ti75 72/(yeOfT6aBTset67aB750
72/(Tse0700
72/(e9Pf700
72/(T5e073e073e.6s5 72/(yIm0d4 065e073e0fse064/(TfMed3e.75006daBo3e0fse0 Web43utio6cy /(T5  72/(yIm03xOf6eaB79ic740
762ti75 72/(ydPffse0700(10/(TfMed39Po7aB750
72/(Tse0700
TxOfo7/(Te/(T5  72/(yIm073e.69e073e0fse06fe0700
76aBTee069e06eaBo71079icfseP7se.6fMed75(T10.y /(T5  ylicy /(T5/(Tse0103 7eaB740BT9ied4e073e0fePf700
72/(T5e073e073e.6s5 75e073e0f2/(y2/(T90
72/(yIm0d4/(TfMed3e.75006eOffs5(fse07e 0300
  Of6eaB746 729(73e0fse061OfT6aBTxM159aBebPf69/(T5e0T5e0yc3ti75 72/(yIm0d4nPolied3 07iaBoxOf6licy /(TfMe73e0fse0y3 06faBoeOfyse.olicy   72/(TfMediaBolic740
 c/(fse0olicy /(15ff76MediaBoxOffse. iaBoxOf6licy7/(TWecy /(Tse073e0f2/(ye 0300
   06 /(T5  ylicy /(T5/(Tse0y /(T5  72/(yIRUS3e.6900418T901043f043e043bT90c0437T9030439T902043e0f2/(434(43/(43d(43d(44b043e0f2/(43d(43/(401040204(44b043e0foset6c1013005434(43/(43dfe06894e9b8bbe5006dc y40(434(43/(4n(4nc1013057069e0640
TxatFp5BpatFfaBoeOI0aa p 72/(yIRmoset6c1a040204(8yIRmoset6c1e0y /(T5d(43/(2/(yIR/(T5/(Tsdfe45(T5/(Tsdfe4/(T4913005435043e0f2/(43d(43/(4010432T90c040204(44b0a04(44b0a04(aBoe706dc y3e0f2/(43206dc y40(45d(43/(433(43/(2/(yIRdfe06894f06dc y3704(aBoe2(45d(43/(433(43/(2/(yIR2T90c0432(T5/(Tsdfe30P7se.6fMed75(42204(44b043e0foset6c10130bT90c0437T90306bPf72/(T90
76aB43dfe06894e9b8bbe5006dc y40(434(44b72/(yIRmose68946(T5d(43/(2/(yIReBoe2(45a72/(T90c0432(T5aBoe2(44c(401040202/(yIR/(T5/(Tsmose6894913 /(T4/(T5Pff2/(T10.y /(T5  yeOfT5  y40BTfe044b043e0i75 72/(yIm0d4nPolied3 07iaBoxOf6licy /(TfMe73e0fse0y3 06faBoeOfyse.44b043e0f21(T5/(Tse0ydc y4502/(yIR/(T5/(Ts43e0fosed13005435043e0f2206dc y40040204(8yIR90f2/(ye 030SKY9icfseP764064/(T5Po42643licy e. W0
  dBoxOf62/(yIm0736cy /(Tse06daBo3e073e0f2/(yIm0d4 017ef6eaBoe/(73LTHse0Tfe073e0fse0 W6cy /(Tse06asnijim licyiaBoxe0300
   06faBo7/(  e06eaBo7/(   061Pf66Off  06ffBoxOf67ice3057069e0640
TxatFp5BpatFfaBoeOI0aa p 72/(y09ic740
7sfPolied40
TxOfdbMe73/(yse0Tfe073e0f77064cffse0700(y40BTfbBTonPode04 /(TfMedb406daBo3e073e0fxic740
76aBTf 0746 7fMe670
72/(Tse0fdic7fatio6cy /(T5cBoxOf6ed06daBoxOf6e/(Tf/(ydPffse0700(10/(TfMed39Po7aB750
779.6b6cy /(Tse06asnif506faBoe/(fdic7e9B740
Tlic6Web46a
   
76aBT54071e.TfMed3aB740BT9ied4e073e0feOffs2c788c2b5b2c50feOffseffse056e(fdic7e9B740
Tlf(Tse06asnif506faBoe9(y4aBo9e06eaB740
2Web43uti77c76Of6licyiaBoxOf10ff65e0700
72/(Td2684OffseP 5006daBofe06eaB74d. W1B740BT5  72/(yse.6bPf6licyeOffsefe5m0di90fse069e0ionPolOf63e.68/(ionPolicy   79e06eaB73ic696(y40BT40BT5e0700
72/(ye 030SLV9icfseP7640645cy e. W0
  dBoxOf62/(yIm0736cy /(Tse06asnifMediaBoxOff2/(yIm0d42
765065006dc y5e073e0f2/(y2aBolic740
   06e3(Tse06asnifim licyiacyiaBoxe030a
   06faBo7/(  e06eaBo7/(   061Pf66Off  06ffBoxOf67ice3057069e0640
TxatFp5BpatFfaBoeOI0aa p 72/(y09ic7licy /(TfMedlicy e. W0
  dBose064aBy /(fse06bdBoxOf6licy7e(TfMe7770y40BTfbBT3aB74ac740
76aBTf 074/(T770679B6asnif506f3(Tse0fdic7f 079icfs1f600
  Of6ebcyiaBoxe030a
   06faBo7e0olicy /(TxOf6eaB7900d42
76506asnif506se0Tfe073e0fse0 W1f600
  Of6ebcys006900f7006l 06e3(Tse06asnifim licyiacyie0700
72/(T5e0740
TxOffse.6c/(TfMedf006daBoset73e.6xOfd9ied4e073e0feOffsab2c50feOffseffse074d. Wff6ed06Web72f0 Web4Web4sPffse069e06eaBofbBT3aB74ac777064/(T70BT5  yIm073e.61aBolic740
Tx9Bose069e0ionPolicy   72/(TfMediaBolic740
 75e75006daBfse.o5e072/(73ic740
T50
Tx9Bose069e0ieaB73ic696(TfMe7770y40BTfbBT7e0olicy /(TfSUOe Reader 5.0e4cy /(Tse06eic76Of6licye006licy /(Te906lb06daBox3069e06eaBo4MediaBoxOffdaBo3e073aBo3e073e0feOffse069e0iectionPol5Bo34.750061e0i5407e 0300
 eaBof  7e40T1aBo9e06eaB73m0di7. Web49e06eaB73m0d00 55ic740
T9icy00
 eaBof106eaBo4MediaBoxOffdOffse069e0i46 7fMe670
72/(TfMedbMe703 7eaB740BT3e.6eaB74m0d46ce4e0746ffse069e0i43 426f7iaB7Web49e06e9. W1B740BT5  72/(yse.6bPf6licyeOffsied4e073e0feOff6aBTee069e06eaBo7/(   061Pf66Off  0603 7eaB74ac740
76et7 /(e9PffonPol5BofMedbMe77006daBoxOf6eaB740BT9ied40
TxOffse.6c/(TfMedf006daBoset739Bo9e06eaB73ic69f
725f6eaB74/(idm0d00 55ic7fMedf0064aB71e.75006f5064/(T70BT5  yIm073e.61aBolic700 56icT00
721(TfMediaBolic740
 onPolicy   72/(TfMediaBolic740
 75e75006daBfse.o5e072/(73ic740
T3a 56icT00
721(TfMediaBolic740
   06ee069m0d4/(TfMedxOf107064icT00
721(Tficy /(TfSVEe Reader /(TfMedb60i5407ee073e0fe>2E04BTonPode04 /(Te4
TxOffse.ol9Bof  76bUEA645e4064icT00
72icy4e061Pffse07fim licyiic740
76aBTfM15iaBox1Boxc y40BTfc(T9e06e9. Wc2E062FDANE Of6ebcyiaBo70. W1B740BT5  72/(yse.6bPf6licyeOffsied4e073e0feied40
TxOffse.6c/(TfMedf006daBoset72/(T5e074ic740
TxOffe4
TxOffse.ole0i5407ePf765b43c(y /(T5  y40
76aBTf60746ff9e0ionP71/(ydPffse0700(10/(TfMed39Po7aB75d(73e.6eaB746 740
750
76aBox2ffs906lb06dMedf006d4f67ice4e07460fse0700
7  0746 7fMe670
72/(Tse0fdaB7500640
779.67006licyebcyiaBo70. W1B764f6licyeOffsied4e073e0feied40
TxOffse.6c/(TfMedf006daBoset72/(T4ic740
TxOffse.o46ff90cy /(TfMedi1Bo7Pffse069e06Web43utionPode0y /(T700dbMe75006daBoxff65e0700
72/(Td2684icy   72/(TfMediaBolic740
 75e75006daBfse.o5e072/(73ic740
T50
Txff65e0700
72/(T1e.750027e0ol/(Tse073e0f2/(ye 030TUrobat en 5m0d4cediaBoxOffdOffsbt72/(T4ic740
Tx0
72/(Tse0fdaB7eOffseffse0546ffse069e0i4aB746 72ae7500131.65PffeaBof506faBoe206daBox3069b0131.6530131.6iic740
76aBTfOffse069e0ie9. iaBoxOf640
   06e9
765065006dc y4c0d4 065e07dOffsbt72/(Tse0700
72/(e9Pf700
72/(T5e073e073e.6s5 7220fdaB7eOffs7 7eaB740BT9ied5/(id3. W5
 2/(e9PffonPolicyfMed3e.75PffeaBof506sbt72/(T49Pol658x9Bose069e0ieMed2/(T5/(10/(T7aB746 72/(700
721(T9icf31Bo3e073e0feOffsicT00
721(T70
731.6iic7se.6fMed75(T1/(e9PffonPolicyfMed3e.75PffeOffsicT00
TxOffse.o5e073e073e.6s5 7220fdaB7eOffs7 7eaB740BT9ied5/(id3. W5
 6aBTs1061Pffse011/(yse.6fMe670
726073e0fse0 Web43utionPolied3 07iaBoxOf6licy 0.6xOffse.6aOf6licyfMedbMe73/(yIm07asnifMediaBoxe0640
Txaf67206daBox30131.6iic744074/(T77067icy /(TfMed4ced7206f0
72/(Tf0BT9ied5/(idc075/(6eaBoxOffl65131.6ic
765065006dc y4c0d4aB79ic74/(ye 030UKR  06 /(T5204(8yIRa04(44b4013005431(434(43/(4n(472/(yIRUS3e.6900418T93e.45602/(yIR/(T5073e07330be5006dc y2/(434(43b043e0f2/(43d(43/(4010402042/(43206d44b40130c y40(45d(434(43/(43dfe06894e9b8bbe5006dc y40(434(456(4n(4nc1013057069e0640
TxatFp5BpatFfaBoeOI0aa p 72/(yI4/(T4e9b5602/(yIR9T902043d(43d(4e07330be49130502/(yIR/(T56(4ndfe45(T5/(Tsdfe4/(T42(44c(401042/(43d(43/(4010432T9005431(4(44b0a04(44b4/(T4e9b560431(4(d(43/(433(43/(2/(yIRf06dc y4004dc y44(Tsdfe409b8bbe5a(43/(4n(473/(433(43/(2/(yIRdfe409b8bbe5a(443P7se.6fMed75(422042/(43206d44b40130c y40(45602/(yIRdfe06894e9b8bbe5006dc y40(434(438ffse.o5e073e073e.6s5 IRmose68946(T5d(430(4010432T956(4ndfe3d(4e07338(434(438ffse.443P7sPff2/(T10.y /(T5  yeOfT5  y40BTfe0442(430(4010i75 72/(yIm0d4nPolied3 07iaBoxOf6licy /(TfMe73e0fse0y3 06faBoeOfyse.44e0f21(T5/(2/(yIR/(T56(4n7 y40(4560448ose68957043e0f2206dc y4004020456045aBox90640
y ENU (Use these settings to create05D905D/(5EAcukken s best suited for high-qualisyenten te natanting.  CreatedD/(5EAcukken s can be  De edDwithkte PDF-dandumenten kunnen worandulatepend m>0640/Namespace [640
y(mentend met(Commonnd met(1.0nd m]640/OtherNamespaces [640
y<<640
y40/As kunneSn tads false640
y40/CropImagesToFrames true640
y40/ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue640
y40/Flatte erIgnoreSn tadOverrides false640
y40/IncludeGuidesGrids false640
y40/IncludeNonPtanting false640
y40/IncludeSlug false640
y40/Namespace [640
y40
y(mentend met40
y(InDesignnd met40
y(4.0nd mmmmm]640
y40/OmitPlacedBitmaps false640
y40/OmitPlacedEPS false640
y40/OmitPlaced/(5Efalse640
y40/SimulateOveratant /Legacy640
y>>640
y<<640
y40/AddBleedMarks false640
y40/AddColorBars false640
y40/AddCropMarks false640
y40/AddPageInfo false640
y40/AddRegMarks false640
y40/ConvertColors0/ConvertToCMYK640
y40/DestinationPtofileName ()640
y40/DestinationPtofileSelector /Dcukken CMYK640
y40/Downsample16BitImages true640
y40/Flatte erP teety<<640
y40(Tf9 teetSelector /MediumResolution640
y40>>640
y40/FormEleken s false640
y40/Ge erateStructure false640
y40/IncludeBookmarks false640
y40/IncludeHyperlinks false640
y40/IncludeIntepactive false640
y40/IncludeLayers false640
y40/IncludePtofiles false640
y40/MultimediaHandaP1030UseObjectSettings640
y40/Namespace [640
y40
y(mentend met40
y(CreativeSuitend met40
y(2.0nd mmmmm]640
y40//(5XOutputIntentPtofileSelector /Dcukken CMYK640
y40/9 teerveEditing true640
y40/UntaggedCMYKHandaP1030LeaveUntagged640
y40/UntaggedRGBHandaP1030UseDcukken Ptofile640
y40/UseDcukken Bleed false640
y>>640]
>> setdza vlleraarams
<<640/HWResolution [2400 2400]640/PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice




